SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01362

DRAKE L. LEWIS, APPELLANT

VERSUS

TONIA D. LEWIS, APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM

THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

HONORABLE CARTER BISE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

THOMAS W. TEEL Perry, Murr, Teel & Koenenn 3415-A Washington Avenue Post Office Box 7158 Gulfport, MS 39507 Telephone: (228) 868-1660 Facsimile: (228) 868-1541

IN THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00750

DRAKE L. LEWIS

APPELLANT

VS.

TONIA D. LEWIS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Appellant Drake Lewis asserts as follows:

The Court erred in its determination of marital assets and valuations; therefore, the Court erred in making an equitable distribution of assets and liabilities.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Drake and Tonia Lewis married in 1991, in Missouri, and separated in June 2006 in Harrison County, Mississippi. The parties had three children, ages, at the time of the divorce, 16,10, and 8.

On August 30, 2006, Appellee, Tonia D. Lewis (hereinafter "Tonia") filed her Complaint For Divorce and Motion For Temporary Relief against the Appellant, Drake L. Lewis (hereinafter "Drake"). (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 1-8)

After answers and pleadings and discovery, the trial was held on July 19 and 20, 2007, and this matter was taken under advisement, pending receipt of proposed findings and conclusions of law from both parties. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 9).

Court's Order

On January 11, 2008, the Chancery Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, entered its Judgment Incorporating Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 9-36) As a result of the Judgment of January 11, 2008, the parties assets were distributed as follows:

To Tonia Lewis, along with any debt associated with the particular asset:

Asset	Value	<u>Debt</u>	<u>Equity</u>
Home: 9021 Marina Avenue	\$250,000	\$146,000	\$104,000
Ocean Springs, Mississippi	Ex.4,5A	Ex. 2a,4	

Proceeds from sale of Lots 15, 16 Grasslands	\$93,000.00	n/a	\$93,000
Proceeds from sale of Richland Road, Columbia, MO	\$265,624	n/a	\$132,812
St. Martin 10 acres	\$200,000	n/a	\$200,000
4912 Kennesaw Dr. Shenandoah Baton Rouge, LA	\$250,000 Ex. 2, 4, 5	\$82,000 Ex. 2, 4	\$168,000
2003 Yukon	\$20,000 Ex. 2a	\$17,586	\$2,414
AIM 5256	\$2,304 Ex. 12	n/a	\$2,304
AIM 1916	\$3,141 Ex. 12	n/a	\$3,141
IRA (Drake) IRA (Tonia)	\$5,300 \$2,950	n/a n/a	\$5,300 \$2,950
Tax Refund	\$9,000	n/a	\$9,000
Lot 29 Hickory Hills Jackson County, MS	\$10,000	n/a	\$10,000
TOTAL NET VALUE TO TONIA:	\$855,7473.00	lamant C.D. Vali	uma 1. Daga 21

(as shown on Judgment, C.P. Volume 1, Page 31)

To Drake Lewis, along with any debt associated with a particular asset:

Asset	Value	<u>Debt</u>	<u>Equity</u>
Suma Hills, Lot 7	\$190,000	\$142,000	\$48,000
Livingston, LA	Ex. 4, 29	Ex. 4, 29	
Lot 13, Hickory Hills	\$10,512	n/a	\$10,512
Lots 1-4 Pinehurst	\$680,000	\$421,000	\$259,000
Spec Homes	Ex. 5	Ex. 29	

į.

.

Swamp Road	\$30,000 Ex. 2	n/a Ex. 2	\$30,000
Tiger Bend Apartments Baton Rouge, LA	\$130,000 Ex. 5	\$33,505	\$96,545
2000 Corvette	\$27,000	n/a	\$27,000
2004 SK1	\$27,000	n/a	\$27,000
Loan to Legacy Holdings, LLC	\$156,555 Ex. 2a	n/a	\$156,555
Bayliner	\$5,000	n/a	\$5,000
Legacy Holdings, LLC	\$1,148, 270 Ex. 1, 4, 7		\$1,148,270

TOTAL NET VALUE TO DRAKE: \$1,807,882.00 (C.P. Volume I, Page 32)

First Post Trial Motions and Orders

After the court's ruling, both sides filed post trial motions. On January 22, 2008, Drake filed a Motion For Reconsideration wherein he alleged the judgment rendered in this cause dated January 11, 2008 is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and is contrary to Mississippi Law. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 37-38; also filed a second time inexplicably, C.P. Volume 1, Pages 66-67). Similarly, also on January 22, 2008, Tonia filed a Motion To Alter or Amend Judgment wherein she alleged the Judgment rendered in this cause dated January 11, 2008 contained errors concerning the distribution of the assets and asked that those errors be corrected, including but not limited to the error specifying the total amount of assets to be awarded to Tonia in the amount of \$865,733.00. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 39-41)

However, before these motions were heard and also on January 22, 2008, the Court, on its own motion, entered an Order, modifying the judgment. The Court found that after the distribution

of martial assets that Tonia (Plaintiff) was capable of bearing her own attorneys fees and the portion of the Judgment awarding attorneys fees was vacated. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 65).

Thereafter, on January 28, 2008, Drake filed a Second Motion For Reconsideration in order to reassert the motion filed prior to the Court's own modification in its Order of January 22, 2008. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 68-69). Further, on March 24, 2008, Drake filed his Memorandum In Support of Defendant's Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 70-76) In his Memorandum, Drake outlined findings of the Court contrary to the testimony and evidence presented.

On March 31, 2008, an Order Altering and Amending Judgment was entered, (C.P. Volume1, Pages 77-78) wherein the Court altered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered in this cause on January 11, 2008 as follows:

As to Page 23 of 28 (Paragraph 31)

Proceeds from sale of	\$265,624.00	n/a	\$132,812T
Richland Road,			\$132,182D
Columbia, MO			

And further, altered and amended to correct the total shown at the end of Paragraph 21 which is "\$855,7473.00" to correctly read \$865,733.00, which would include the total proceeds from the sale of the Richland Road, Columbia, Mo. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 77)

On April 1, 2008 an Abstract of Judgment was entered by the Chancery Clerk of Harrison

County, Mississippi. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 79)

Second Post Trial Motions and Orders

On April 9, 2008, Drake filed his Motion To Alter or Amend Order of March 31, 2008 alleging that the Order filed on March 31, 2008 makes substantive changes to the ruling of the Court and which are outside of the Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment and which the

Defendant requests to be stricken from the Order of March 31, 2008. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 80-81) On July 11, 2008, an Order On Post-Trial Motion of Defendant was entered (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 82-86) denying the Motions of Defendant, except as to amended of the Judgment pertaining to the obligation to pay for college tuition which ends upon the child reaching the age of 21.

Appeal

Your Appellant would assert that the errors complained of were not corrected and that the equitable division is still in error; therefore, being aggrieved with the Court's opinion, Drake Lewis has perfected this Appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Drake and Tonia Lewis married in 1991, in Missouri, and separated in June 2006, in Harrison County, Mississippi. The parties had three children, whose ages, at the time of the divorce, were 16, 10, and 8. At the time of the divorce, both parties had romantic interests other than their spouse (T. Volume 1, Pages 114-120; C.P. Volume 1, Page 17). Although the Court order addresses the various matters of the divorce, your Appellant will focus his Statement of Facts on just those facts relevant to the issues of this appeal.

During the parties marriage, they operated Legacy Holdings. The parties were in the property and construction business; however, Drake's family were well off and had provided for Drake, along with his siblings, trust properties. During the marriage, Drake would sell or take proceeds from trust properties and put into Legacy Holdings, which business he admitted was a marital property; further, he did receive other benefits from his family, such as the money to buy his corvette (T. Volume 2, Pages 221-222). At the time of the divorce, the parties had substantial holdings, but some were in trust and some were individually owned by both parties. There was extensive testimony about the properties and the Court made decisions as to whether each was marital or non-marital, placed a valuation on the properties, and then made its equitable decision. The areas of concern for Appellant are the following.

Legacy Holdings.

Legacy Holdings was formed by Drake and Tonia Lewis in 2001 as a Mississippi Corporation which would buy property and build "spec" homes. The court made its determination about Legacy Holdings based on Exhibits 1, 4, and 7, all of which were offered by Plaintiff Tonia Lewis. Drake asserts that these three exhibits are contradictory, inaccurate, and unreliable; further, the document is purported to be "as of July 17, 2007", but Drake moved from the residence in June of 2007 (R.E. Exhibit 11, Page 64, Line 8-11).

First, Tonia Lewis failed to list certain properties on her Exhibit 4: (a) the marital home was not listed (T. Volume 2, Page 163, Line 27 thru Page 164, Line 8); (b) the Richland Road property was not listed as an asset (T. Volume 2, Page 164, Line 9 thru Page 165, Line 9). Additionally, Plaintiff also admitted that this document contradicts the value of the personal property listed in her own exhibit 1 (T. Volume 2, Page 165, Line 23 thru Page 167, Line 4) Finally, Plaintiff herself admitted that this document is unreliable (T. Volume 2, Pages 163-166) and not accurate (T. Volume 2, Page 165, Lines 20-22), as opposed to the un-refuted statement of Drake Lewis (R.E. Exhibit 2 and 2A).

Second, Tonia Lewis listed properties that either no longer existed as assets; however, she used the property values to promote an overall asset value. Tonia claimed the value of Legacy was \$1,148,270.48, but this figure was based upon Exhibit 7, which she also admitted was inaccurate (T. Volume 2, Pages 171-177):

(a) 17845 Satsuma Hills Rd. This property was partially gifted to the Lewis' from Mr.
Lewis' father (T. Volume 1, Page 143) and was listed on Tonia's 8.05 Financial form(R.E. Exhibit
1, Page 5, as personal asset); however, she also listed this property as an asset of Legacy in the valuation of the company.

(b) 200 Elderbrook Drive. Tonia testified that this asset was the personal home that was built in Missouri (T. Volume 2, Page 171, Lines 13-17) and, prior to this, that the home had been a personal asset back in 2005 (T. Volume 1, Page 32, Lines 5-18). Regardless, this house had been sold prior to separation (R.E. Exhibit 11, Page 95), yet was used to determine the value of Legacy.

(c) 5037 Deborah. Tonia admitted the property was sold in 2004 (T. Volume 2, Page 172, Lines 9-11), but used the asset in determination of the value of Legacy.

(d) 7109 Pinehurst. Tonia admitted this property was sold in 2005 (T. Volume 2, Page 172, Lines 12-19). This asset was also used in determination of the value of Legacy.

(e) 10 acres St. Martin. Although Tonia testified that this property was a personal, not corporate asset (T. Volume 2, Page 173, Line 13 thru Page 174, Line 5) and she also listed this similarly on her 8.05 Financial form (R.E. Exhibit 1, Page 5,), this was used in determining the value of Legacy.

(f) Richland Road. Although the property was admitted to be a personal asset (T. Volume 2, Page 175, Line 17 thru Page 176, Line 10) and was listed on her 8.05 (R.E. Exhibit 1, Page 5,) as personal holding, this property was used in determining the value of Legacy.

(g) 9021 Marina, Ocean Spring, MS. (personal holding, marital home) this asset shown as Legacy asset is also listed as a personal holding on the Plaintiff's 8.05 (R.E. Exhibit 1)(T. Volume 2, Page 163, Lines 27-29)

The aforementioned items have a combined value of \$1,803,996.00.

At trial, there were no deeds or titles produced showing one single asset of Legacy, which is consistent with the testimony of Drake Lewis. Drake Lewis testified that Legacy Holdings, Inc., was a marital asset, but that it holds no real property; further, that the company has one real asset, himself, and he operated it as a construction company (T. Volume 2, Page 272, Line 21 thru Page 273, Line 1, and Page 203, Lines 20-27). (See also, R. E. Exhibit 2-2A). There was no documentary, refuting proof that Legacy has any properties; further, Tonia was a full partner, had full access to the office documents and the CPA and produced no underlying documents of property ownership by Legacy.

Further, to be clear, Legacy Holdings did have some personal property, but meager: a Ford F 150 truck that "just sits" (R.E. Exhibit 7; but see, R. E. Exhibit 11, Page 102, Lines 8-16); the "road grader" was owned by Drake's father (R. E. Exhibit 7, but see, R. E. Exhibit 11, Page 102, Line 16 to Page 103, Line 24); but, did own some trailers and tools (R. E. Exhibit 7; R. E. Exhibit 11, Page 103-4).

The Judgment notes that Legacy Holdings, LLC, had equity and value of \$1,148, 270, and then states that the net value to Drake, with Legacy added in, is \$1,807,882 (C.P. Volume 1, Page 32). If Legacy is deducted, the value would have been \$659,612.

Hickory Hills and St. Martin

The Judgment noted two properties, Lot 13, Hickory Hills and the St. Martin acreage (listed as both 9.65 acres and 10 acres) and treats them as separate existing properties. On the Judgment, the Court lists an asset named "Lot 13 Hickory Hills" and refers to Exhibit 19 to substantiate its existence, further, in the Judgment this property is valued at \$10,512 and awarded to Drake. The St. Martin property is valued at \$200,000 in the Judgment and awarded to Tonia. Actually, there is only one property, which both parties discussed. Drake Lewis explained that this was non-marital property because he was personally given the Hickory Hills property in 2001 by the Drake Linuel Lewis Trust, a trust set up by his father. (T. Volume 2, Pages 206; T. Volume 1, Pages 142-143). This property was then traded for the St. Martin property (T. Volume 2, Pages 205-210; See also, Exhibit 19 and 20, T. Volume 1, Page 147, Lines 29 thru Page 148, Line 25 and T. Volume 2, Page 173, Line 17 thru Page 174, Line 5, and Page 205, Line 9 thru Page 206, Line 5). Hickory Hills Lot 13 was never represented as a current asset held by either party. This "1031 exchange" or property trade, in January 2006 is unrefuted. Tonia is not on the property title; Tonia is not on the trust. Tonia admitted that the Hickory Hills acreage was placed in Drake's name by the trust, that there was a 1031 exchange for the St. Martin property and, her name was never on the properties.(T. Volume 1, Pages 147-8). Drakes states that there was no money exchange. (T. Volume 2, Pages 209-210). In fact, both properties were undeveloped and there were no documentation as to any monies being spent on the property (T. Volume 2, Page 175) Notwithstanding, the Court found the St. Martin property to be a marital asset and awarded it to the Plaintiff. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 32).

Tigerbend

In the Court's division of assets, the Court granted Drake the Tigerbend Apartments in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, which is valued at \$130,000, with a \$33,505 debt and a net value of \$96,545. Historically, the parties both admitted that Tigerbend Apartments was part of the trust property given Drake by his father. (T. Volume 1, Page 43, Lines 16-20; T. Volume 2, Pages 217-218). Documents clearly shows the property, 1/5 in the name of "The Drake Linuel Lewis Trust" not Drake Lewis individually. (R. E. Exhibit 22). The Court treated this as if marital property.

Loan to Legacy Holdings

In regards to the personal loan to Legacy Holdings, the court has attempted to treat this as both asset and income for the Defendant. The validity of the loan, and Tonia's prior knowledge of it, was testified to by the Appellee (T. Volume 1, Page 141, Lines 8-10). Tonia also testified to prior knowledge of large amount of monies from the sale of trust properties in Drake's name being loaned to the company (T. Volume 1, Page 144, Line 24 thru page 145, line 9; see also, T. Volume 1, Page 175, Lines 1-4). Tonia did not list this asset on either of her proffered 8.05 financial statement (R. E. Exhibit 1). However, loans to the company were treated as assets in the judgment.(C.P. Volume 1, Page 22 and 32)

The Chancery Court granted Tonia temporary relief after the divorce was filed and Drake's 8.05 showed income of \$4,300 from Legacy; however, the Court granted the Wife Tonia support that totaled \$4,883. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 15). Thereafter, Drake had Legacy repay loans made to Legacy. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 15-16) The Court noted that the loan on Exhibit 2A was \$156,555.10, but also that same loan on Exhibit 7 is \$147,855. The Court stated this was a martial asset (C.P. Volume 1, Page 16), even though Drake was already paying his entire salary to Tonia for temporary support. Thereafter, the Court granted child support of \$1,606 per month, as "22% of his net income". Drake's 8.05 shows gross income of \$4,730 and net income of \$3,300.(R. E. Exhibit 2); whereas his net income computed extrapolated from the child support is \$7,300 (\$1,606 divided by 22 equals 1%, multiplied by 100). Therefore, the Court used the loan as both an asset and as income.

Names Of Companies

After the separation, in September, 2006, Drake Lewis started Legacy Builders to continue construction work in his own name.(R. E. Exhibit 11, Pages 39, 43). Further, there is some confusion in the record: there is only one Legacy Holdings; moreover, it is sometimes referred to as LLC by Mr. Holleman and the Court, but was clearly denoted as Legacy Holdings, Inc. (T. Volume 2, Page 282, Lines 12-19)

Judgment

In the Court's Judgment Incorporating Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Court notes the claims as to non-marital properties. (C.P. Volume 1, Pages 21-22). Thereafter, the Court lists the assets awarded Tonia and valued those at \$855,733.00 (C.P. Volume 1, Page 31, as corrected in C.P. Volume 1, Pages 77-78). The Court also listed the assets awarded Drake and valued those at \$1,807,882. (C.P. Volume 1, Page 32), of which \$1,148,270 is Legacy Holdings.

Appellant filed post trial motions and, unable to have the matter corrected, filed this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court was manifestly wrong and erred in its equitable distribution of assets because (a) The Court placed a value on a business that had no assets; (b) The Court incorrectly found property gifted to the husband from a trust to be marital property, (c) The Court treated a previously owned property as a existing asset, and (d) the Court treated a loan as both income and an asset. Further, the Court was manifestly wrong in certain fact findings, as evidenced in documents and testimony; moreover, certain rulings on the facts are not consistent with the rules as to non-marital property and commingling; therefore, the equitable distribution was manifestly wrong and in error.

ARGUMENT

Appellant Drake Lewis asserts that the Chancery Court of Harrison County was manifestly wrong in its equitable distribution and asserts that the Court erred in including Legacy Holdings as a valued asset, erred in finding certain assets marital, erred in including a non-existent property as an asset, and treated loans as assets. These errors effected the overall value of the parties' marital estate and therefore made the overall equitable division of assets wrong and outside the scope of case law.

1. The Equitable Distribution

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