SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01362

DRAKE L. LEWIS

APPELLANT

VS.

TONIA D. LEWIS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT, CHANCERY COURT CAUSE NO. C2402-06-747(4)
HONORABLE CARTER BISE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

DEAN HOLLEMAN, MSB #2523 BOYCE HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES 1720—23rd Avenue-Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 863-3142 Telefax (228) 863-9829

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-01362

DRAKE L. LEWIS

APPELLANT

VS.

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

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should affirm the Chancery court's determination of marital assets and valuations, as the Chancellor committed no error in making an equitable distribution of assets and liabilities. The trial court's value placed on Legacy Holdings, Inc., was based upon credible evidence, including but not limited to Federal Tax Returns, Balance Sheets and Financial Statements. The trial court was correct in failing to find the St. Martin property should be redefined as a non-marital asset

as there was no credible evidence of a 'gift'. The trial court did not include any asset in its asset determination which was previously sold by the parties and all assets included by the trial court were in existence as shown by the credible evidence. The trial court was correct in finding from the credible evidence the parties were owed approximately \$156,555.00 from their company Legacy Holdings, Inc, for which Drake was receiving payments without disclosing these payments and the child support ordered by the trial court was proper.

D. ARGUMENT

Almost a year of time and some \$17,115.00 in attorney fees and costs were expended by Tonia in the pursuit of her divorce from Drake on the grounds of adultery. Exhibit 17. Drake did a very poor job of placing credible testimony or documentary proof before the trial court for its determination. Drake's request for this appellate court to now discard the findings of the chancellor should be received with great caution and care. Drake had his opportunity to present his case and he failed. He now asks this Court for another chance, all at the expense of Tonia.

It is well settled this Court reviews a chancellor's decision in a divorce proceeding solely under an abuse of discretion standard. The Judgment of the trial court should not be disturbed unless the findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. <u>Stewart v. Stewart</u>, 2 So.3d 770 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009); <u>Magee v. Magee</u>, 661 So. 2d 1117, 1122 (Miss.

1995). This Court may reverse the Judgment below ONLY if there is an absence of "substantial, credible evidence" justifying the trial court's finding. *Williams v. Rembert*, 654 So. 2d 26, 28 (Miss. 1995). The trial court findings and judgment are based upon substantial and credible evidence presented by Tonia.

In making his determination of equitable distribution, the trial court below is given broad latitude and is charged only with following the guidelines established by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Hemsley* and *Ferguson*. *Hemsley* v. *Hemsley*, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994); *Ferguson* v. *Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994). The trial court followed the 'charge' completely in rendering its Judgment below. CP.21, et.seq. Further, the trial court's decision and distribution should "be upheld if supported by substantial credible evidence." *Oswalt* v. *Oswalt*, 981 So.2d 993 (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (citing *Carrow* v. *Carrow*, 642 So.2d 901, 904 (Miss. 1994); See also *Owen* v. *Owen*, 798 So.2d 394, 397 (Miss. 2001) ("This court will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor 'even if this Court disagrees with the lower court on the findings of fact and might ... [arrive] at a different conclusion.").

As reflected in the record, there is credible evidence to support the trial court's equitable distribution. The trial court carefully followed the law governing equitable distribution, and there is no showing that it misapplied any of the *Ferguson* factors. Drake cannot show that the chancellor abused his discretion or that he was manifestly wrong in

making his equitable distribution determinations. The Judgment should be affirmed.

- A. BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED, THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT LEGACY HOLDINGS, INC., HAD A VALUE OF \$1,148,270.00 AND IT WAS EQUITABLE TO AWARD THIS ASSET TO DRAKE.
- B. BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED, THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT DRAKE FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROOF TO REDEFINE ASSETS AS NON MARITAL AND NOT SUBJECT TO EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION.
- C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INCLUDED THE HICKORY HILLS, LOT 13, AS AN ASSET WITHOUT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE TO SHOW THE PROPERTY HAD BEEN TRANSFERRED BY DRAKE AND ALSO PROPERLY INCLUDED THE ST. MARTIN PROPERTY AS A MARITAL ASSET WITHOUT ANY CREDIBLE PROOF THE ASSET WAS NON MARITAL.
- D. BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED, THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE CHANCELLOR'S FINDING THAT LEGACY HOLDINGS, INC., OWED TONIA AND DRAKE SOME \$156,555.00 WHICH WAS PROPERLY INCLUDED AS AN ASSET.
- E. BASED UPON THE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE PRESENTED, THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE CHANCELLOR'S EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION OF THE MARITAL ASSETS.

After the parties separated in June 2006, Drake was in control of the operations of Legacy Holdings, Inc. Drake unbelievably asserts in his brief Legacy was 'not in operation' in July 2007, the time of trial. Such an assertion is a self serving manipulation of the facts presented and the evidentiary record below: See Exhibit 9 (shows Drake drawing money from Legacy Holdings, Inc., as late as April 2007); Exhibit 24 (shows ongoing work on Pinehurst lots and construction). Drake asks this Court to ignore the credible proof which includes the 2005 Federal Tax

Return which showed assets in excess of \$2,000,000.00 as of December 31, 2005, just six months prior to the divorce being filed. Exhibit 8.

Drake argues Legacy had no assets. As to the makeup of what the assets were, such information would have definitely been within the knowledge of Drake and surely his CPA who he chose not to call as a witness.

Drake complains of the inclusion in the record of Exhibit 1 (Tonia's financial declaration), Exhibit 4 (Personal Balance sheet Tonia printed from Drake's computer in June 2006), and Exhibit 7 (compilation of Legacy information, including a July 2007 Balance Sheet Tonia printed from Legacy's computer at the time of trial). Yes, Tonia sponsored these exhibits to provide the trial court with credible evidence upon which to base its decision. Yes, Drake did not like some of the information on the exhibits. Yes, Drake chose to not offer any credible evidence to the contrary. Yet, Drake represents there was "no real evidence of any value" of Legacy even in light of the presence of the heretofore reference exhibits? His assertion is totally without merit.

It is Drake's argument that Legacy Builders owned no assets and that it was error to award Drake this company with a stated value of \$1,148,270.00. CP.32. There is no question Drake's accountant would have known the 'rest of the story' (if there is one) of what assets were owned or not owned by Legacy Builders, Inc. However, Drake did not give us the benefit of the testimony of the accountant, although he

advised the trial court he would do so. Tr.275. CP.83. Drake wants this Court to believe Legacy is worth nothing, i.e. ignore the tax return balance sheets, ignore the value of 'total assets' on the filed tax returns; ignore the tax return gross income and ignore the obvious falsity of his assertions.

As evidence of assets being owned by Legacy and its history of earnings, Tonia provided the trial court with the Federal Tax Returns of Legacy Builders. Exhibit 8. These returns provide a 'true' financial picture of Legacy's financial health, i.e. not prepared by Drake to present in his divorce case. These returns were filed with the Internal Revenue Service year after year. What these tax returns revealed were yearly balance sheets showing that Legacy holds <u>substantial</u> assets, contrary to the unsubstantiated testimony of Drake:

Total Assets: Legacy Builders Federal Income Tax Return Balance Sheets

Year	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005
Total	\$1,950.00	\$1,622,861.00	\$1,621,603.00	\$1,556,589.00	\$2,219,539.00
Assets	_				

The 2005 return was filed in 2006, which is the year of the final separation. Can Drake seriously and honestly maintain a position that Legacy has no assets? How can Drake argue the trial court committed 'manifest error" in its fact findings when such documentary evidence has been received?

Drake's testimony painted a totally different financial picture of the status of Legacy's sales and assets and the value of the marital estate. His testimony was completely opposite of the documentation in evidence. Much of Drake's posturing for a 'poor' financial condition appeared to be motivated by his own desire to abandon his marriage to Tonia. This assignment of error is without merit.

Classifying the property as either marital or non-marital is the first step in the distribution of assets. Stewart v. Stewart, 864 So.2d 934 (Miss. 2003) (citing Hemsley v. Hemsley, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994). The Supreme Court, in *Hemsley*, provided the current definition of marital property as used in the classification of assets. Hemsley, 639 So.2d at 914 ("any and all property acquired or accumulated during the marriage"). The Supreme Court further articulated, "Assets so acquired or accumulated during the course of the marriage are marital assets and are subject to an equitable distribution by the chancellor." Id. Unless it is shown that an asset is associated solely with one party's estate prior to or outside of marriage, then the asset is subject to equitable distribution. Pearson v. Pearson, 761 So.2d 157 (Miss. 2000). Every asset owned by Tonia and Drake and addressed by the trial court in its distribution was 'acquired or accumulated during the course of the marriage' and presumed to be and defined as a marital asset.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has noted that the classification of martial property also includes separate property that has been

"commingled with the joint marital estate." <u>Johnson v. Johnson</u>, 650
So.2d 1281,1286 (Miss. 1994). Even in spite of proof that assets may be attributable to a party's separate estate, "when separate, non-marital property is commingled with marital property, the separate property can lose its characterization as such and become marital property subject to equitable distribution." Stewart, 2.So.3d at paragraph 9 (quoting Franks v. Franks, 759 So.2d 1164, 1169 (Miss. 1999). In addition to commingling with separate assets, use of assets for familial benefit will also result in the loss of characterization as a non-marital asset.

Hankins v. Hankins, 866 So.2d 508, 511 (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (holding the long term family use of the property converted the residential house and lot into marital property).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recently reinforced its view of the burden of proof a party has to prepare the evidence touching on matters important to a party's position in a case:

The only evidence presented to the trial court as to the value of the Back Clinic was the uncontroverted testimony of Henry. The chancellors of this state are not responsible for the evidence that is presented at trial. As the Court of Appeals has said, "it is incumbent upon the parties, and not the chancellor, to prepare evidence touching on matters pertinent to the issues to be tried." Dunaway v. Dunaway, 749 So.2d 1112, 1118 (Miss.Ct.App.1999). Where a party fails to provide information, the chancellor is entitled to proceed on the best information available. *Id.* The value of the Back Clinic was a factual finding supported by credible evidence. Newsom v.Newsom, 557 So.2d at 514.

[emphasis ours] Irby v. Estate of Irby, No. 2007-CA-00689-SCT.

The record below is replete with a demonstration of the significant contributions made by Tonia to the family, as well as to the marital estate. However, even where there may be a lack of specificity or accuracy of what increase in value has occur to some asset that is argued to be non marital, the trial court can conclude from the evidence that Tonia's direct or indirect contribution to the accumulation of assets is worth a "significant amount" and it can make an equitable distribution touching on all assets, both marital and nonmarital. Stewart v.

Stewart, 2 So.3d 770, (Miss. App. 2009); citing Craft v. Craft, 825 So.2d 605,609 (Miss. 2002).

The record is conclusive that Tonia was an equal contributor to the success of Lewis Management and Legacy Holdings, Inc. The record is conclusive that she was a significant contributor to the purchase and development of the trust lots and that she managed the lots and the income from the lots. Further, the record is conclusive that Legacy was heavily intertwined with this 'trust' and that monies were owed to and from this "trust" to Legacy. There is no evidence of Tonia and Drake being compensated for any work done for this 'trust'.

As to the other properties Drake claims to be 'non marital', the proof fails to adequately demonstrate what monies were used to purchase all or a portion of these assets, i.e. Shenandoah and Tiger Bend. Who is to say that the rental income from these assets earned and accumulated during the marriage and reported on the parties' tax

returns were not used to purchase the assets? Can Drake come to the trial court and just say 'I did not actually receive the income and do not know where it is'? Can he neglect to bring to the trial court the necessary and supporting documentation to demonstrate an asset is 'non marital' or not comingled, i.e. deeds, closing statements, bank accounts, etc.? The answer to all of these propositions is an emphatic "NO".

As held many times by the Mississippi Supreme Court "any and all property that is acquired or accumulated during the marriage is defined as marital property." Bowen v. Bowen 982 So.2d 385, 395. And when a party in Drake's position fails to present the necessary evidence and 'merely demonstrate' by his uncorroborated testimony that an asset is non marital, the status of being defined as a 'marital asset' does not change. Id. When the trial court is not provided sufficient proof to 'draw a precise line of demarcation' between what is marital and non marital then it is correct in leaving an asset accumulated during the marriage defined as marital and subject to equitable distribution. A.& L. Inc. v. Gantham, 747 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1992).

It was Drake's burden to demonstrate to the trial court the non-marital character of every asset he contended was non marital. *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d at 915. Drake's burden went beyond a mere demonstration that the asset was acquired prior to marriage or that it was 'gifted'. When the evidence suggests that the net equity in the assets may have increased due to the spouse/owner's efforts, directly or

indirectly, as opposed to enhanced value passively acquired, there must be a showing by Drake such as would allow the chancellor to separate the former, a marital asset, from the latter, a non-marital asset. *See also Oxley v. Oxley*, 695 So.2d 364 (Fla. Dist. Ct.App. [4th Dist.] 1997). Having failed to meet this burden, the trial court was not in error in rejecting Drake's claims of non marital status of certain assets and the trial court did not commit manifest error in its equitable distribution to Tonia and Drake.

It is well settled that the goal of the chancellor in a divorce case is to do equity. *Smith v. Smith*, 994 So.2d 882 (Miss.App.2008). Chancellors are entrusted with that duty, and thus, decisions made by chancellors should be regarded as the most equitable evaluations in the eyes of the law of Mississippi. To consider such decisions otherwise would detract from the authority which the law has entrusted within the chancellor and the functions of chancery courts.

All real and personal property acquired by either Tonia or Drake during the marriage is considered marital property, subject to equitable distribution by this Court. Drake claims certain marital assets are actually non-marital. While these assets were acquired during the marriage, Drake maintains the claim that they were gifted to him by his father or through a trust and therefore, are non-marital. In light of these claims, the burden of proof was upon Drake to prove by a preponderance

of the evidence that each of these alleged non-marital assets were, in fact, non-marital. He failed to meet that burden.

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